SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

KPMG PEAT MARWICK, etc.,

Petitioner,

CASE NO. 96,413

vs.

District Court of Appeal, 3rd District - No. 98-3051

NATIONAL UNION FIRE INSURANCE COMPANY OF PITTSBURGH, PENNSYLVANIA, etc.,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF

LEWIS N. BROWN, ESQ. DYANNE E. FEINBERG, ESQ. GILBRIDE, HELLER & BROWN, P.A. Attorneys for Petitioner One Biscayne Tower - Suite 1570 Two South Biscayne Boulevard Miami, Florida 33131

Of Counsel: David Wagner, Esq. Associate General Counsel KPMG LLP 280 Park Avenue New York, NY 10017

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The plaintiff below, NATIONAL UNION FIRE INSURANCE COMPANY OF PITTSBURGH, PENNSYLVANIA ("National Union"), through its Fourth Amended Complaint, sued KPMG PEAT MARWICK ("KPMG") for accounting malpractice. In Count I of the Fourth Amended Complaint, National Union asserted a claim as the assignee of BankAtlantic. (R. 629-630). In Count II, National Union asserted a claim as the contractual subrogee of BankAtlantic. (R. 630-632). In Count V, National Union asserted a claim as the equitable subrogee of BankAtlantic. (R. 637-638).¹

In its Fourth Amended Complaint, National Union alleged that it was the fidelity bond insurer of BankAtlantic from May of 1989 through May of 1992. (R. 617, ¶ 10). National Union further alleged that BankAtlantic made a claim against National Union on the surety bond relating to a portfolio of loans purchased by BankAtlantic from Sterling Resources, Ltd. ("Sterling Portfolio"), and that National Union agreed to pay BankAtlantic approximately \$18,000,000 for losses sustained in the Sterling Portfolio. (R. 617, ¶¶ 11-12). National Union alleged that KPMG, as the independent auditor of BankAtlantic, was negligent in the performance of certain of the independent audits of BankAtlantic in not discovering the activities leading to the losses, and that such

¹ The Fourth Amended Complaint also asserted certain direct claims by National Union against KPMG in Counts III and IV, but such claims were voluntarily dismissed by agreed order dated October 14, 1998, and were not at issue in the appeal below. (R. 1268).

negligence caused all or some of the loss for which National Union paid BankAtlantic. (R. 616-638). National Union also alleged that BankAtlantic assigned to National Union any and all claims against KPMG for negligence in the performance of the subject audits, and attached a copy of the purported assignment as an exhibit. (R. 617, Ex. C).

KPMG answered the Fourth Amended Complaint denying the material allegations thereof, and asserted various affirmative defenses. (R. 734-750). On February 16, 1996, KPMG filed a Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings. (R. 806-815). The basis for this motion was that, <u>inter alia</u>, National Union could not sustain a claim for accounting malpractice as either the assignee or subrogee of BankAtlantic because Florida law prohibits the transfer of such professional malpractice claims.

On October 14, 1998, the trial court entered an order granting KPMG's Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings and entered Final Judgment in favor of KPMG. (R. 1280-1281). National Union appealed this judgment to the Third District Court of Appeal. (R. 1274-1279). By Opinion filed July 28, 1999, the Third District Court of Appeal reversed the Final Judgment and remanded the case back to the trial court. (App. 1). However, the Third District certified to this Court the issue presented as one of great public importance. (App. 1, pp. 3, 7).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This appeal involves an issue of great public importance, that is, whether the same public policy considerations recognized by Florida courts which prohibit the transfer of claims for legal malpractice by assignment or subrogation also preclude the transfer of claims for accounting malpractice. The Third District recognized the significance of its decision by certifying the issue of whether this Court's recent decision in Forgione v. Dennis Pirtle Agency, Inc., 701 So.2d 557 (Fla. 1997), created an inherent conflict with its 1934 decision in Danzler Lumber & Export Co. v. Columbia Casualty Co., 115 Fla. 541, 156 So. 116 (1934).

In <u>Forgione</u>, the issue presented was whether a claim by an insured against an insurance agent was transferable. This Court reviewed the long line of Florida cases which found legal malpractice claims non-assignable based on public policy grounds. This Court then analyzed a number of factors which led to its conclusion that the same public policy grounds which preclude the transfer of legal malpractice claims, including the confidential relationship between an attorney and his client, the duty owed by an attorney to his client, and the personal relationship between an attorney and his client, did not apply to claims by an insured against an insurance agent. However, the public policy considerations applied by this Court in <u>Forgione</u> plainly preclude the transfer of claims for accounting malpractice.

Under Florida law, a claim for legal malpractice may not be transferred by assignment or subrogation. Florida law provides that the principles governing legal malpractice apply to claims against all professionals, including accountants. <u>Peat</u> <u>Marwick, Mitchell & Co. v. Lane</u>, 565 So.2d 1323 (Fla. 1990). For this reason, accounting malpractice claims may not be transferred.

Further, the factors considered by this Court in Forgione require that a claim for accounting malpractice be non-transferable. As to the first factor enunciated in Forgione, the confidential relationship between the attorney and client, this same confidentiality exists between an accountant and its client. The accountant-client privilege contained in Florida's Evidence Code is identical to the attorney-client privilege, and these privileges establish a clear intent by the legislature that communications between an accountant and its client are just as confidential as those between an attorney and his client. Further, this confidentiality requirement also appears in Chapter 473 governing Public Accountancy, so that it is a substantive right as well. The Third District's reliance on federal law is misplaced where federal courts do not recognize an accountant-client privilege in federal question cases, in clear contrast to Florida courts and federal courts in diversity cases which apply state law privileges.

The second factor in Forgione, which is the duty owed by an attorney to his client,

equally compels the conclusion that accounting malpractice claims are not assignable. Clearly, under the law established by this Court in <u>First Florida Bank v. Max Mitchell</u>, 558 So.2d 9 (Fla. 1990), an accountant owes a duty to its client, and not to the public absent either strict privity of contract or actual knowledge of reliance by a third party. The Third District's characterization of an accountant as a "public watchdog" places an unwarranted emphasis on the performance of a singular task by an accountant - the audit of a public company - when in fact the vast majority of accountants practicing in Florida do not even perform this function. Rather, most accountants are not practicing in large accounting firms, and perform services with no public attributes, such as tax advice, pension plan audits, management consulting, and other similar activities. Moreover, in an assignment or subrogation setting such as this one, public interests are never involved. Rather, the transfer is of a claim possessed by the client against the accountant.

As to the third factor considered by this Court in <u>Forgione</u>, the personal nature of the relationship, the type of activities described above are indicative of the close relationship between an accountant and its client that have no impact on the public. Thus, all of the factors considered by this Court in <u>Forgione</u> compel a conclusion that accounting malpractice claims are not transferable.

The Third District Court of Appeal in this case misplaces its reliance on this Court's 1934 decision in <u>Danzler</u>. Although <u>Danzler</u> permitted the transfer by

subrogation of an accounting malpractice claim, that decision analyzed only the issue of equitable subrogation in general, and did not contain any analysis of the factors enunciated by this Court in <u>Forgione</u> 63 years later.

The Third District recognized the inherent conflict between the decisions in <u>Forgione</u> and <u>Danzler</u>, and certified to this Court a question of great public importance, which is whether <u>Danzler</u> still represents Florida law in light of <u>Forgione</u>. (App. 1, pp. 3, 7). For the reasons set forth in this brief, <u>Forgione</u> is the controlling law of this state. The Third District erred in holding that claims for accounting malpractice may be transferred by assignment or subrogation and this Court should reverse that decision.

<u>CERTIFICATE OF TYPE SIZE AND STYLE</u>

It is hereby certified that this brief is typed in 14 point Times New Roman.

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

<u>A CLAIM FOR ACCOUNTING MALPRACTICE MAY NOT BE</u> <u>TRANSFERRED BY ASSIGNMENT OR SUBROGATION</u>

A. <u>Florida law Prohibits the Assignment or Subrogation of a Claim for</u> <u>Professional Malpractice</u>

It is without question that under Florida law, a claim for legal malpractice may not be assigned to a third party. <u>Kozich v. Shahady</u>, 702 So.2d 1289 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997); <u>Mickler v. Aaron</u>, 490 So. 2d 1343 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997); <u>Washington v. Fireman's Fund</u> <u>Ins. Co.</u>, 459 So. 2d 1148 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984). In considering this issue of first impression in Florida, the court in <u>Washington</u> observed that a majority of jurisdictions prohibit the assignment of such actions because of the personal nature of legal services which involve highly confidential relationships.

The same public policy considerations that prohibit transfers by assignment of legal malpractice claims also preclude their transfer by subrogation. In <u>National Union Fire</u> <u>Ins. Co. v. Salter</u>, 717 So.2d 141 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998), the same plaintiff as involved in this action, sought to bring a legal malpractice action as a subrogee of the attorney's client. The court first reiterated that under Florida law, legal malpractice claims are personal torts which cannot be assigned because of the personal nature of the legal services which involve highly confidential relationships. (Citing <u>Forgione; Kozich</u>). The

court concluded that the policy reasons for prohibiting assignments are equally applicable to a subrogation action.²

As this Court has held, the same principles which govern legal malpractice actions govern all professional malpractice actions. In <u>Peat Marwick, Mitchell & Co. v. Lane</u>, 565 So.2d 1323 (Fla. 1990), this Court considered the issue of the commencement of the statute of limitations in an accounting malpractice action. This Court found that while the Florida courts had not expressly addressed that question in an accounting malpractice case, they had addressed a similar issue in legal malpractice actions. In determining to follow such precedent, this Court stated: "*We find that the basic principles for all professional malpractice actions should be the same*, absent a clear legislative intent to distinguish certain professions in the application of the limitations period." <u>Id.</u> at 1325. (Emphasis added).

This Court in <u>Peat Marwick</u> further looked to the definition of "profession" set forth in <u>Pierce v. AALL Insurance, Inc.</u>, 531 So. 2d 84 (Fla. 1988). In <u>Pierce</u>, this Court found that an insurance agent was not a professional for purposes of the statute of limitations. This Court defined a profession as a vocation requiring, as a minimum

² Although National Union was a party in the <u>Salter</u> case, National Union did not cite to that decision in its Initial Brief filed in the Third District, nor did the Third District even mention this case, notwithstanding that the Fifth District's holding that legal malpractice claims may not be transferred by subrogation is plainly relevant to the issue presented in this appeal.

standard, a college degree in the specific field in order to be licenced under the laws and administrative rules of this state. The <u>Pierce</u> court used a certified public accountant as an example of such a profession. <u>See also Garden v. Frier</u>, 602 So.2d 1273 (Fla. 1992) (reaffirming <u>Pierce</u> but clarifying its earlier holding).

Similarly, in <u>Coopers & Lybrand v. Trustees of the Archdiocese of Miami/Diocese</u> of <u>St. Petersburg Health & Welfare Plan</u>, 536 So.2d 278 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988), the Third District considered a case of first impression involving the measure of damages in a claim for accounting malpractice. Finding no direct guidance, the court observed that "the same analyses of foreseeability and causation undertaken when assessing damages in other professional malpractice actions should apply when calculating the measure of damages in an accountant malpractice action." <u>Id.</u> at 281.³

In its Opinion in this case, the Third District Court of Appeal completely ignored this Court's decisions in <u>Peat Marwick</u> and <u>Pierce</u>, and even failed to consider its own decision in the <u>Coopers & Lybrand</u> case, all of which hold that the principles applying to legal malpractice cases should apply to all professional malpractice actions, including accountant malpractice suits. Because Florida law holds that legal malpractice claims may not be transferred by assignment or subrogation, and also holds that claims for

³ The Third District observed that accountants, like attorneys, are professionals, citing to the <u>Pierce</u> decision which held that an insurance agent is not a professional. <u>Id.</u> at n. 6.

professional malpractice should be governed by the same principles, under Florida law a claim for accounting malpractice may not be transferred by assignment or subrogation, and the Third District erred in reaching a contrary conclusion.

B. <u>The Public Policy Rationale Set Forth in this Court's Decision in Forgione</u> <u>Mandates Against the Assignability of Accounting Malpractice Claims</u>

The Third District also failed to properly apply the factors set forth by this Court in <u>Forgione v. Dennis Pirtle Agency. Inc.</u>, 701 So.2d 557 (Fla. 1997), to determine whether an accounting malpractice claim is assignable. In <u>Forgione</u>, this Court held that a negligence claim against an insurance agent was assignable, and contrasted the assignability of this claim with the non-assignability of a legal malpractice claim. This Court carefully enunciated several factors to be used in determining which claims are assignable and which are not assignable for public policy reasons. The factors set forth by this Court in <u>Forgione</u> plainly support the conclusion that a claim for accounting malpractice may not be assigned.

The <u>Forgione</u> decision reiterated the general rule that parties can assign causes of action derived from a contract or statute. <u>See, e.g., McNulty v. Nationwide Mut. Ins. Co.,</u> 221 So.2d 208 (Fla. 3d DCA 1969) (upholding assignment of contract based claim). In contrast, purely personal tort claims are not assignable under Florida law. <u>See, e.g.,</u> <u>Notarian v. Plantation AMC Jeep, Inc.</u>, 567 So. 1034 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990) (claim for intentional infliction of emotional distress is a personal injury claim that is not

assignable).

This Court further noted that the majority of jurisdictions prohibit assignment of legal malpractice claims based on public policy considerations.⁴ The Court then discussed the various factors supporting these public policy considerations. The considerations addressed by this Court in <u>Forgione</u> apply equally to accounting malpractice claims.

1. The First Factor in Forgione: A Confidential Relationship

First, this Court noted that attorneys and clients have a confidential relationship, which includes constraints upon information that can be disclosed to others, citing Section 90.502, Florida Statutes (1995) (explaining parameters of the lawyer-client privilege recognized by Florida's Evidence Code), and Rules Regulating The Florida Bar 4-1.6 (imposing obligation that lawyer not reveal information relating to representation of

⁴ See, e.g., Schroeder v. Hudgins, 142 Ariz. 395, 690 P.2d 114 (App. 1984); Goodley v. Wank & Wank, Inc., 62 Cal. App. 3d 389 133 Cal. Rptr. 83 (1976); Roberts v. Holland & Hart, 857 P.2d 492 (Colo. App. 1993); Picadilly, Inc. v. Raikos, 582 N.E.2d 338 (Ind. 1991); Bank IV Wichita, Nat'l Ass'n v. Arn, Mullins, Unruh, Kuhn & Wilson, 250 Kan. 490, 827 P.2d 758 (1992); Coffey v. Jefferson County Bd. of Educ., 756 S.W. 2d 155 (Ky. App. 1988); Joos v. Drillock, 127 Mich. App. 99, 338 N.W. 2d 736 (1983); Earth Science Laboratories, Inc. v. Adkins & Wondra, P.C., 246 Neb. 798, 523 N.W. 2d 254 (1994); Chaffee v. Smith, 98 Nev. 222, 645 P.2d 966 (1982); Can Do, Inc. Pension and Profit Sharing Plan and Successor Plans v. Manier, Herod, Hollabaught & Smith, 922 S.W. 2d 865 (Tenn. 1996); City of Garland v. Booth, 895 S.W. 2d 766 (Tex. App. 1995).

client). This Court observed that the law does not impose similar constraints on communications between an insurance agent and an insured.

The same confidential relationship exists between an accountant and its client under Florida law. In fact, the accountant-client privilege codified in Section 90.5055 of the Florida Statutes is *identical* to the attorney-client privilege set forth in Section 90.502. This evidentiary privilege extending to communications between an accountant and its client provides that a communication between an accountant and its client is confidential if it is not intended to be disclosed to third persons other than in furtherance of the rendition of the accounting services to the client or those reasonably necessary for the transmission of the communication. The client is the holder of the accountant-client privilege, and the client has the privilege to refuse to disclose, and to prevent any other person from disclosing, the contents of confidential communications with an accountant. The accountant may claim the privilege only on behalf of the client.

In its decision, the Third District failed to recognize the significance of this statutory privilege. The Third District correctly noted that the accountant-client privilege, unlike the attorney-client privilege, is not recognized at common law. (App. 1, p. 3). However, the Florida Legislature chose to enact this privilege in recognition of the confidential nature of the relationship between an accountant and its client. Further, the Florida Legislature in 1931 enacted the predecessor statute to Chapter 473, which governs

Public Accountancy. Section 473.16 of the present statute contains the same exact language as Section 90.5055 and thus the confidentiality between an accountant and its client is more than simply an evidentiary privilege as the Third District implies; it is also a substantive statutory right.

Florida's appellate courts have recognized that the relationship between an accountant and its client is a confidential one much like the relationship between an attorney and his client. In Affiliated of Florida, Inc. v. U-Need Sundries, Inc., 397 So.2d 764 (Fla. 2d DCA 1981), the court, in holding that a confidential memorandum prepared by an accountant concerning the viability of a contract is privileged, noted that the purpose of such a privilege is to carry out the public policy of being able to consult with an accountant without fear that the resultant communications may become public. Similarly, in Green v. Harry Savin, P.A., 455 So.2d 494 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984), the Third District found that a complaint properly stated a cause of action for unauthorized disclosure of confidential information where it alleged that the accountants of a medical doctor and his professional association improperly released confidential financial data to the doctor's wife, which data was used by the wife and her attorney in the subsequent trial of a dissolution of marriage between the doctor and his wife. See also Deloitte, Haskins & Sells v. So. Finance Holding Corp., 566 So.2d 906 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990) (quashing circuit court order requiring discovery of financial records and workpapers in accountant's

possession).

Although the Third District cited to federal cases which hold that no accountantclient privilege exists under federal law, such as <u>United States v. Arthur Young & Co.</u>, 465 U.S. 805 (1984) and <u>Falsone v. United States</u>, 205 F.2d 734 (5th Cir. 1953), the court failed to cite any one of the above Florida cases recognizing and protecting the accountant-client privilege. The Third District's reliance on federal law is misplaced given the clear statutory privilege in Florida and the Florida court's consistent application of this privilege.⁵

Further, just as the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar impose an obligation on a lawyer not to reveal information relating to the representation of his client, the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("AICPA") imposes a like obligation on its member accountants. As recognized by the Code of Professional Conduct promulgated

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