SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

KPMG PEAT MARWICK

CASE NO. 96,413

Petitioner,

DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL 3RD DISTRICT CASE NO. 98-3051

v.

NATIONAL UNION FIRE INSURANCE CO. OF PITTSBURGH, PENNSYLVANIA

Respondent.

_____/

RESPONDENT'S AMENDED ANSWER BRIEF

James F. Crowder, Jr. Florida Bar No. 016867 Russell A. Yagel Florida Bar No. 727090 KIMBRELL & HAMANN, P.A. Attorneys for National Union 799 Brickell Plaza Brickell Centre, Suite 900 Miami, Florida 33131 Telephone: (305) 358-8181

CERTIFICATE OF TYPE SIZE AND STYLE

It is hereby certified that this brief typed in 14 point Times Roman (proportional).

KIMBRELL & HAMANN, P.A. 799 Brickell Plaza Suite 900 Miami, FL 33131 (305) 358-8181

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal is from an Order of the Third District Court of Appeals holding that a fidelity insurer is subrogated to and can have assigned to it the rights of its insured to recover losses caused by the negligence of the insured's independent auditors.

NATIONAL UNION FIRE INSURANCE COMPANY OF PITTSBURGH, PENNSYLVANIA ("NATIONAL UNION") agrees with the statement of the case set forth in the Initial Brief of KPMG PEAT MARWICK ("KPMG").

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In a well reasoned decision, the Third District held that NATIONAL UNION could assert claims against KPMG as the assignee and subrogee of BankAtlantic. The Third District noted that its conclusions were supported by this Court's decision in <u>Dantzler Lumber and Export Co. v. Columbia Casualty Co.</u>, 156 So. 116 (Fla. 1934) where this Court recognized that a fidelity bond insurer that pays the claim of its insured for defalcations by the insured's employee is subrogated to the rights of the insured to recover from the insured's accountants for failing to discover the defalcations during an audit.

The Third District opined that the relationship between independent auditor and client differs from the attorney-client relationship in significant multiple respects, obviating the policy considerations that preclude the assignment of legal malpractice claims in the case of claims against independent auditors.

Specifically, the Court found that when certified public accountants perform independent audits of client's financial statements, they do not share the same close, personal and highly confidential relationship that attorneys share with their clients.

Understanding of the differences between the duties owed to clients by attorneys and independent auditors eliminates any credible argument that passage of a statutory privilege aimed at some aspects of the accountant's functions, but which has admittedly not converted the independent auditor to a fiduciary, justifies retreating from the principles embodied in this Court's opinion in <u>Dantzler Lumber</u> upon which sureties and their insured's have relied for 65 years in this state.

ARGUMENT

COURT AND A. THE PRECEDENT OF THIS OTHER AN JURISDICTIONS DOES NOT PROHIBIT **INSURED** TRANSFERRING A CLAIM FOR NEGLIGENCE OF ITS **INDEPENDENT AUDITORS TO ITS SURETY INSURER.**

All of the cases directly addressing the issue presented to the Third District and to this Court support the legal proposition that an insured's claims against its independent auditors for negligence in the performance of an audit may be transferred to its insurer by way of assignment or subrogation. In <u>Dantzler Lumber and Export</u> <u>Co. v. Columbia Casualty Co.</u>, 156 So. 116 (Fla. 1934) this Court held that a surety insurer is subrogated to the rights of its insured to proceed against its insured's accountants for failing to discover employee defalcations.

In recent years, other Courts have concurred with that decision of this Court.

See, First Community Bank & Trust v. Kelly, Hardesty, Smith & Company, 663 N.E.2d 218 (Indiana Ct. of App. 1996)(allowing claim for negligence in the performance of audits to be assigned), Federal Insurance Co. v. Arthur Anderson and Co., 552 N.E.2d 870 (N.Y. App. 1990)(doctrine of superior equities does not prevent suit by surety insurer against its insured's accountants for negligence in the performance of independent audits), Fidelity & Deposit Company of Maryland v. Verzal, 361 N.W.2d 290 (Wis. Ct. of App. 1984)(surety insurer equitably subrogated to rights of insured bank to proceed against banks auditors notwithstanding that claims by the surety insurer against the bank's officers and directors are barred by superior equities doctrine). <u>Western Surety Company v. Loy</u>, 594 P.2d 257 (Kansas 1979)(surety insurer subrogated to rights of insured to sue insured's independent auditors).

KPMG argues that a series of decisions of this Court, which NATIONAL UNION contends appear distinguishable on their faces from issues presented by the current case, have effectively overturned <u>Dantzler Lumber</u> and held that no claim for professional malpractice may be transferred by assignment or subrogation. It is apparent that KPMG's view of Florida law is not shared by this Court or other Appellate Courts in this state. In <u>Dade County School Board v. Radio Station</u> <u>WQBA</u>, 731 So.2d 638 (Fla. 1999) this Court cited <u>Dantzler Lumber</u> and the Fifth District Court of Appeal recently followed this Court's decision in <u>Underwriters at</u> <u>Lloyds v. City of Lauderdale Lakes</u>, 382 So.2d 702 (Fla. 1980) wherein this Court held that professional malpractice claims against physicians may be transferred by way of subrogation. <u>See</u>, <u>Benchwarmers, Inc. v. Gorin</u>, 689 So.2d 1197 (Fla. 4d DCA 1997).

KPMG argues that the 1978 enactment of the accountant-client privilege by the Florida Legislature calls the <u>Dantzler Lumber</u> decision into question.^{1/} This argument is without merit since, as noted by one prominent scholar, the primary argument in favor of the privilege was that it would assist taxpayers in federal tax investigations. Erhardt, <u>Florida Evidence</u> 5055.1, pg. 359. Thus, it seems apparent that the privilege was directed to the CPA's role as a preparer of tax returns, not as an

independent auditor.

From the above, it is clear that the Third District properly followed and applied the precedent established by this Court in the <u>Dantzler Lumber</u> case, and the decision

 $^{1^{\}prime}$ The accountant-client privilege is codified at 90.5055. Fla. Stat. Laws 1979, c 79-202, 15, added 473.316, Fla. Stat. which is similar to 90.5055 with the exception of an additional subsec. (5) pertaining to disciplinary investigations or proceedings conducted pursuant to accountancy law. In its brief, KPMG seems to imply that some form of the accountant-client privilege has been in existence since 1931 which is incorrect. The board of accountancy was established in 1931, but the privilege was first recognized in 1978.

of the Third District should be affirmed.^{2'}

B. KPMG'S POSITION IS CONTRARY TO THE POSITION TAKEN BY THE ORGANIZATION CHARGED WITH THE SELF REGULATION OF CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS, THE AMERICAN INSTITUTE OF CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

Courts have historically refused to allow the assignment of legal malpractice claims because of the chilling effect that it would have on the attorney-client relationship. <u>See, e.g. Goodley v. Wank & Wank</u>, 62 Cal.App.3d 389, 133 Cal.Rptr. 83 (Cal.App. 1976), <u>Picadilly, Inc. v. Raikos</u>, 582 N.E.2d 338 (Ind. 1991), <u>First Community Bank & Trust v. Kelly, Hardesty, Smith & Company</u>, 663 N.E.2d 218 (Indiana Ct. of App. 1996). KPMG argues that since accountants have ethical obligations and constraints upon disclosure similar to that of attorneys, the relationship between independent auditor and client will likewise be impaired by allowing the transfer of malpractice claims against independent auditors. KPMG's view, however, is not shared by the body charged with the self regulation of accountants, the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("AICPA"). The AICPA has concluded that normally the relationship between independent auditor as the subrogee of the auditor's client.

 $^{^{2&#}x27;}$ NATIONAL UNION respectfully suggests as it is apparent that this Court has not receded from the <u>Dantzler Lumber</u> decision, this Court should so state and decline to accept jurisdiction over the instant action.

In its interpretations of the Rules of Professional Conduct governing CPA's^{$\frac{3}{2}$}, the

AICPA states:

In some instances, an insurance company may commence litigation (under subrogation rights) against the member in the name of the client to recover losses reimbursed to the client. These types of litigation would not normally affect the member's independence with respect to a client who is either not the plaintiff or is only the nominal plaintiff since the relationship between the member and the client would not be affected. They should be examined carefully, however, since the potential for adverse interests may exist if the member alleges in his defense, fraud or deceit by the present management.

AICPA Professional Standards, Code of Professional Conduct, ET 101.08

(CCH) (1998).^{4/}

It is apparent that in addition to the precedent established by this Court in the

Dantzler Lumber decision, the conclusions of the Third District are supported by the

body charged with the self regulation of the accounting profession.

C. THE PUBLIC POLICES THAT PRECLUDE THE TRANSFER

 $[\]frac{3}{2}$ CPA's licensed by the State of Florida and performing audits are required to adhere to Statements of Auditing Standards issued by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Fla. Admin. Code R. 61HA-22.002. The Statements on Auditing Standards provide that the precepts established in the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants Code of Professional Conduct have the force of professional law for the independent auditor. Codification of Statements on Auditing Standards, AU 220.04 (CCH) (1998). The AICPA's interpretation of the "independence" requirement would not (and has not) prevented KPMG from serving as the independent auditor of BankAtlantic.

 $[\]frac{4}{4}$ A copy of the AICPA's opinion is included in the Appendix to NATIONAL UNION's Answer Brief as item A-1.

OF LEGAL MALPRACTICE CLAIMS ARE NOT OFFENDED BY ALLOWING AN INSURED TO TRANSFER MALPRACTICE CLAIMS AGAINST ITS INDEPENDENT AUDITORS TO ITS INSURER.

Notwithstanding the precedent established by this Court in <u>Dantzler Lumber</u> and the position of the AICPA quoted just above, KPMG insists that the independent auditor-client relationship is "much like" (KPMG's Initial Brief, p. 13) the attorneyclient relationship, and based on <u>Forgione v. Denise Pirtle Agency</u>, 701 So.2d 557 (Fla. 1997), claims against independent auditors may not be assigned.

As demonstrated by the following discussion, the Third District properly examined the factors discussed by this Court in <u>Forgione</u> and properly concluded that because of multiple significant differences in the attorney-client and independent auditor-client relationships, there is no bar to an insured transferring claims against its independent auditor to the insurer that paid a loss occasioned by the negligence of the insured's auditors.

1. <u>The Fiduciary Relationship and Undivided Duty of Loyalty</u>

The attorney client relationship is a close, personal and highly confidential relationship. <u>Forgione</u> at 559. It is a fiduciary relation of the very highest character, and the attorney owes his client an undivided duty of loyalty. <u>Id</u>. at 560.

In its brief filed with the Third District, KPMG recognized *that a fiduciary relationship does not ordinarily exist between the accountant and client* (Appellees

Answer Brief in the Third District Court of Appeal, pg. 8). Thus, KPMG agrees there is a major difference between the client relationships and the resulting duties owed by attorneys and independent auditors, yet KPMG offers no explanation why these inconsistencies are not fatal to the argument it put forth below and now makes in this Court.

The conclusion that independent auditors do not have a fiduciary relation of the highest character with their clients or owe their clients an undivided duty of loyalty is confirmed by previous cases that examined the duties of the independent auditor and that were cited by the Third District.

In <u>United States v. Arthur Young & Company</u>, 465 U.S. 805 (1984) the United States Supreme Court cited the divided duties of the independent auditor when it refused to recognize the accountant-client privilege and stated:

By certifying the public reports that collectively depict a corporation's financial status, the independent auditor assumes a *public* responsibility transcending any employment relationship with the client. The independent public accountant performing this special function owes the ultimate allegiance to the corporation's creditors and stockholders, as well as to the investing public. This "public watchdog" function demands that the accountant maintain total independence from the client at all times and requires complete fidelity to the public trust.

Id. at 817-818 (emphasis in original).

Likewise, in <u>First Florida Bank v. Max Mitchell & Company</u>, 558 So.2d 9 (Fla. 1990), this Court expanded the liability of CPA's to third party users of financial

statements not in privity with the CPA and by doing so established that the duties of the independent auditor extended to persons other than the client.^{5/}

A comparison of the ethical and/or statutory provisions that require each of the two professions to maintain independence also reveals a fundamental difference between the duties owed by the two professions: the independent auditor cannot accept an audit engagement in circumstances where his loyalties to the client would be adverse to third parties; the attorney cannot accept representation of a client in circumstances where his loyalties to the client.^{6/}

The Florida statutes governing the practice of public accountancy provide that a certified public accountant may not express an opinion on the presentation of a company's financial statements unless he is independent. 473.315, Fla.Stat. (1997). As stated by the AICPA, this independence "does not imply the attitude of a

 $[\]frac{5}{1}$ KPMG asserts that the Third District disregarded this Court's decision in <u>Max</u> <u>Mitchell</u> and found that independent auditors owed a duty to the public. It is evident from reading their opinion that the Third District did not conclude that independent auditors owe a duty to the public.

 $[\]frac{6}{2}$ The considerable differences in the ethical obligations owed by the two professions to their clients was acknowledged by the AICPA in it's response to the report of the American Bar Association's Commission on Multidisciplinary Practice ("MDP"). The AICPA stated that if attorneys employed by CPA firms are required to adhere to the legal rules of conduct, including the legal profession's rules concerning conflicts of interest, it would create conflict situations in the same circumstances where none existed before. A copy of the AICPA's response to the MDP report is included in the Appendix to NATIONAL UNION's Answer Brief as item A-2.

prosecutor but rather a judiciary impartiality that recognizes an obligation of fairness not only to management and owners of a business but also to creditors and those who may otherwise rely (in part, at least) upon the independent auditors report as in the case of prospective owners or creditors". Codification of Statements on Auditing Standards., AU 220.02 (CCH)(1998)^{$\frac{7}{}$}. Thus, the auditors independence requirement serves the interests of the independent auditor's client and third parties unrelated to the client that may rely on the auditor's report.

Rule 4-1.7(b) of the Rules Regulating the Florida Bar also requires an attorney to maintain independence in the exercise of professional judgment; however, as evidenced by the comments to Rule 4-1.7(b), the independence requirement of attorneys is directed to the attorney's duty of loyalty to the client and exclusively serves to protect the interests of the client. The comments state "[1]oyalty to a client is also impaired when a lawyer cannot consider, recommend, or carry out an appropriate course of action for the client because of the lawyer's other responsibilities or interests".

KPMG 's admission that a fiduciary relationship does not normally exist between the independent auditor and client and the above analysis establish that independent auditors do not have a fiduciary relation of the highest character with

 $\frac{7}{2}$ A copy of the Statement on Auditing Standards is included in the Appendix to

their clients or owe their clients an undivided duty of loyalty.

2. <u>The Highly Confidential Relationship</u>.

KPMG argues that because of the accountant-client privilege created by 90.5055 and 473.316, Fla. Stat. (1997), independent auditors have the same highly confidential relationship that exists between attorneys and their clients, making the policies that demand complete protection of the confidential relationship between attorney and client equally applicable to the independent auditor-client relationship. This argument is flawed, however, because the independent auditor does not owe the client the same duties as the attorney.

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